
 

 
 

Scan the code above or visit www.nwleics.gov.uk/meetings 
for a full copy of the agenda. 

 

 

 

 
Meeting PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
Time/Day/Date 6.00 pm on Wednesday, 4 May 2022 
 
Location Council Chamber, Council Offices, Coalville 
 
Officer to contact Democratic Services (01530 454529) 
 
 
 

 
AGENDA 

Item  Pages 

 
1.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
 

2.  DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  
 

 

 Under the Code of Conduct members are reminded that in declaring interests 
you should make clear the nature of that interest and whether it is a 
disclosable pecuniary interest, registerable interest or other interest. 
 

 

3.  MINUTES  
 

 

 To confirm and sign the minutes of the meeting held on 5 April 2022. 
 

3 - 6 

4.  PLANNING APPLICATIONS AND OTHER MATTERS  
 

 

 Report of the Head of Planning and Infrastructure. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

7 - 10 

 
 

http://www.nwleics.gov.uk/meetings


Index of Applications to be Considered 
 

Item Application Number and Details  Recommendation Page 

 

 

A1  22/00267/FUL: Erection of one dwelling and creation of a new 
vehicular access 
 
Land Adjacent To 2 Station Terrace Heather Coalville Leicestershire 
LE67 2QN 
 

Refuse 
 

11 - 28 

A2  21/00896/FUL: Part demolition of existing building, erection of a 
two storey extension and change of use to five assisted living flats 
alongside other external works and alterationsv 
 
2 - 4 Central Road Hugglescote Coalville Leicestershire LE67 2FD 
 

Permit 
 

29 - 38 

 
  
 



1 
 

Chairman’s initials 

MINUTES of a meeting of the PLANNING Committee held in the Council Chamber, Council 
Offices, Coalville on TUESDAY, 5 April 2022  
 
Present:  Councillor N Smith (Chairman) 
 
Councillors R Boam, D Bigby, J Hoult, J Legrys, R L Morris, M B Wyatt and J Bridges (Substitute 
for Councillor J G Simmons)  
 
In Attendance: Councillors K Merrie MBE, D Harrison, R Blunt and R Canny  
 
Officers:  Mr C Elston, Mr D Jones, Mrs C Hammond, Mr S Smith, Ms S Booth and Mr C Colvin 
 

64. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
Apologies were received from Councillors D Everitt, S Gillard and J Simmons. 
 

65. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
 
In accordance with the Code of Conduct, members declared the following interests: 

 
Councillor J Bridges declared a non registerable interest in item A1, application number 
20/01118/OUT, as he had been approached by his optician seeking advice on the 
application, in a personal capacity as a developer. He stated that he had advised his 
optician to discuss any matters with planning officers and had no further discussion on the 
application. 

 
Members declared that they had been lobbied without influence in respect of the following 
applications but had come to the meeting with an open mind. 
 
Item A1, application number 21/02107/FUL 
 
Councillors D Bigby, R Boam, J Legrys and M B Wyatt. 
 
Item A2, application number 20/01118/OUT 
 
Councillors R Boam and M B Wyatt. 
 

66. MINUTES 
 
Consideration was given to the minutes of the meeting held on 5 March 2022. 
 
It was moved by Councillor N Smith, seconded by Councillor R Boam and  
 
RESOLVED THAT: 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 5 March 2022 be approved and signed by the 
Chairman as a correct record. 
 
 

67. PLANNING APPLICATIONS AND OTHER MATTERS 
 
Consideration was given to the report of the Head of Planning and Infrastructure, as 
amended by the update sheet circulated at the meeting. 
 
 
 
 

3

Agenda Item 3.



2 
 

Chairman’s initials 

68.  A1 
21/02107/FUL: THE ERECTION OF A DETACHED AGRICULTURAL BUILDING AND 
CHICKEN COOP AND THE PROVISION OF A TRACK AND HARDSTANDING 
Land East Side Of Austrey Lane Appleby Parva Leicestershire DE12 7AR  
Officer’s Recommendation: Refuse 
 
The Senior Planning Officer presented the report to members. 
 
Mr B Lees, objector, addressed the committee urging them to support the Planning 
Inspector and the previous committee’s decisions and refuse the application. He 
highlighted that the application would have a detrimental visual impact on the countryside 
which outweighed the benefits of the development. He requested that additional notes be 
included in the refusal notice in relation unauthorised works ceasing and the submission 
of any future application that utilise the proposed access point would be unacceptable.  
 
Councillor D Harrison, County Councillor, addressed the committee highlighting that the 
submitted application had had a negative impact on the residents of the village and the 
site had become untidy with building across the brook and constant burning of rubbish. He 
felt that the application had failed to meet any planning policies which had led to both the 
committee and Inspector refusing the previous application. He urged the committee to 
refuse the application once again.  
 
Councillor R Blunt, Ward Member, addressed the committee highlighting that the 
committee’s decision to overturn the original recommendation on the previous application 
had been supported by the Planning Inspector and that he was surprised to see a slightly 
amended application back. He noted that the site was in an elevated position and along 
with the drive and hardstanding would have a detrimental impact on area.  
 
In determining the application members had regard to the fact that the application had 
only been amended slightly from the original application, therefore the proposed 
development would still have a detrimental overbearing impact on the countryside and 
surrounding area. The Planning and Development Team Manager advised  that, should 
the application be refused and was lost at appeal again, the applicant could not submit 
another application for 2 years, that the additional notes from residents would not be 
required, as the concerns raised would be picked up by planning enforcement, such as 
looking at the untidy land; and that each application had to be considered on its own merit, 
therefore the authority could not stop the applicant from submitting further applications for 
a development significantly different to that now proposed.. 
 
The recommendation to refuse the application in accordance with the officer’s 
recommendation, was moved by Councillor J Legrys and seconded by Councillor J Hoult. 
 
The Chairman put the motion to the vote. A recorded vote being required, the voting was 
as detailed below.  
 
RESOLVED THAT:  
 
The application be refused in accordance with the recommendation of the Head of 
Planning and Infrastructure. 

Motion to refuse the application in accordance with the officer's recommendation 
(Motion) 

Councillor Nigel Smith For 

Councillor Russell Boam For 

Councillor Dave Bigby For 

Councillor Jim Hoult For 

Councillor John Legrys For 

Councillor Ray Morris For 

4



3 
 

Chairman’s initials 

Councillor Michael Wyatt For 

Councillor John Bridges For 

Carried 

 

69.  A2 
20/01118/OUT: ERECTION OF ONE DETACHED DWELLING AND ASSOCIATED 
GARAGE (OUTLINE - DETAILS OF ACCESS INCLUDED) 
Land Adjacent To 37A Church Street Appleby Magna Swadlincote Derby DE12 7BB  
Officer’s Recommendation: Permit 
 
The Senior Planning Officer presented the report to members. 
 
The recommendation to permit the application in accordance with the officer’s 
recommendation, as amended by the update sheet, was moved by Councillor J Hoult and 
seconded by Councillor R Boam. 
 
The Chairman put the motion to the vote. A recorded vote being required, the voting was 
as detailed below.  
 
RESOLVED THAT:  
 
The application be permitted in accordance with the recommendation of the Head of 
Planning and Infrastructure, as amended by the update sheet. 

Motion to permit the application in accordance with the officers recommendation, 
as amended by the update sheet. (Motion) 

Councillor Nigel Smith For 

Councillor Russell Boam For 

Councillor Dave Bigby For 

Councillor Jim Hoult For 

Councillor John Legrys Against 

Councillor Ray Morris For 

Councillor Michael Wyatt Against 

Councillor John Bridges For 

Carried 

 
The meeting commenced at 6.00 pm 
 
The Chairman closed the meeting at 6.38 pm 
 

 

5



This page is intentionally left blank



 

APPENDIX B 
 
 

Report of the Head of Planning and Infrastructure 
to Planning Committee 

 
4 May 2022 

 
 
 

PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT REPORT 
 

 
 

7

Agenda Item 4.



 

PLANNING COMMITTEE FRONT SHEET 
 
 
1. Background Papers 
 
For the purposes of Section 100(d) of the Local Government ( Access to information Act) 
1985 all consultation replies listed in this report along with the application documents and 
any accompanying letters or reports submitted by the applicant, constitute Background 
Papers which are available for inspection, unless such documents contain Exempt 
Information as defined in the act. 
 
2. Late Information: Updates 
 
Any information relevant to the determination of any application presented for determination 
in this Report, which is not available at the time of printing, will be reported in summarised 
form on the 'UPDATE SHEET' which will be distributed at the meeting.  Any documents 
distributed at the meeting will be made available for inspection.  Where there are any 
changes to draft conditions or a s106 TCPA 1990 obligation proposed in the update sheet 
these will be deemed to be incorporated in the proposed recommendation. 
 
3. Expiry of Representation Periods 
 
In cases where recommendations are headed "Subject to no contrary representations being 
received by ..... [date]" decision notices will not be issued where representations are 
received within the specified time period which, in the opinion of the Head of Planning and 
Infrastructure are material planning considerations and relate to matters not previously 
raised. 
 
4. Reasons for Grant  
 
Where the Head of Planning and Infrastructure report recommends a grant of planning 
permission and a resolution to grant permission is made, the summary grounds for approval 
and summary of policies and proposals in the development plan are approved as set out in 
the report.  Where the Planning Committee are of a different view they may resolve to add or 
amend the reasons or substitute their own reasons.  If such a resolution is made the Chair of 
the Planning Committee will invite the planning officer and legal advisor to advise on the 
amended proposals before the a resolution is finalised and voted on.  The reasons shall be 
minuted, and the wording of the reasons, any relevant summary policies and proposals, any 
amended or additional conditions and/or the wording of such conditions, and the decision 
notice, is delegated to the Head of Planning and Infrastructure. 
 
5. Granting permission contrary to Officer Recommendation  
 
Where the Head of Planning and Infrastructure report recommends refusal, and the Planning 
Committee are considering granting planning permission, the summary  reasons for granting 
planning permission, a summary of the relevant policies and proposals, and whether the 
permission should be subject to conditions and/or an obligation under S106 of the TCPA 
1990 must also be determined; Members will consider the recommended reasons for 
refusal, and then the summary reasons for granting the permission. The  Chair will invite  a 
Planning Officer to advise on the reasons and  the other matters.  An adjournment of the 
meeting may be necessary for the Planning Officer and legal Advisor to consider the advice 
required 
  

8



 

If The Planning Officer is unable to advise at Members at that meeting, he may recommend 
the item is deferred until further information or advice is available. This is likely if there are 
technical objections, eg. from the Highways Authority, Severn Trent, the Environment 
Agency, or other Statutory consultees.  
 
If the summary grounds for approval and the relevant policies and proposals are approved 
by resolution of Planning Committee, the wording of the decision notice, and conditions and 
the Heads of Terms of any S106 obligation, is delegated to the Head of Planning and 
Infrastructure. 
 
6 Refusal contrary to officer recommendation 
 
Where members are minded to decide to refuse an application contrary to the 
recommendation printed in the report, or to include additional reasons for refusal where the 
recommendation is to refuse, the Chair will invite the Planning Officer to advise on the 
proposed reasons and the prospects of successfully defending the decision on Appeal, 
including the possibility of an award of costs. This is in accordance with the Local Planning 
Code of Conduct.  The wording of the reasons or additional reasons for refusal, and the 
decision notice as the case is delegated to the Head of Planning and Infrastructure. 
 
7 Amendments to Motion 
 
An amendment must be relevant to the motion and may: 

1. Leave out words 
2. Leave out words and insert or add others 
3. Insert or add words as long as the effect is not to negate the motion 

 
If the amendment/s makes the planning permission incapable of implementation then the 
effect is to negate the motion. 
 
If the effect of any amendment is not immediately apparent the Chairman will take advice 
from the Legal Advisor and Head of Planning and Infrastructure/Planning and Development 
Team Manager present at the meeting. That advice may be sought during the course of the 
meeting or where the Officers require time to consult, the Chairman may adjourn the 
meeting for a short period. 
 
Only one amendment may be moved and discussed at any one time. No further amendment 
may be moved until the amendment under discussion has been disposed of. The 
amendment must be put to the vote. 
 
If an amendment is not carried, other amendments to the original motion may be moved. 
 
If an amendment is carried, the motion as amended takes the place of the original motion. 
This becomes the substantive motion to which any further amendments are moved. 
 
After an amendment has been carried, the Chairman will read out the amended motion 
before accepting any further amendment, or if there are none, put it to the vote. 
 
 
8 Delegation of wording of Conditions 
 
A list of the proposed planning conditions are included in the report. The final 
wording of the conditions, or any new or amended conditions, is delegated 
to the Head of Planning and Infrastructure. 
 

9



 

9. Decisions on Items of the Head of Planning and Infrastructure  
 
The Chairman will call each item in the report.  No vote will be taken at that stage unless a 
proposition is put to alter or amend the printed recommendation.  Where a proposition is put 
and a vote taken the item will be decided in accordance with that vote.  In the case of a tie 
where no casting vote is exercised the item will be regarded as undetermined. 
 

10



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 4 May 2022  
Development Control Report 

 
Erection of one dwelling and creation of a new vehicular 
access 

 Report Item No  
A1  

 
Land Adjacent To 2 Station Terrace Heather Coalville 
Leicestershire LE67 2QN 

Application Reference  
22/00267/FUL  

 
Grid Reference (E) 439500 
Grid Reference (N) 310576 
 
Applicant: 
Mrs Alison Wright 
 
Case Officer: 
Sarah Booth 
 
Recommendation: 
REFUSE  
 

Date Registered:  
31 January 2022 

Consultation Expiry: 
16 April 2022 
8 Week Date: 

28 March 2022 
Extension of Time: 

6 May 2022 

 
Site Location - Plan for indicative purposes only   

 
     

Reproduced from Ordnance Survey material with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the controller of Her Majesty’s Stationery Office 
copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.  Licence LA 100019329) 

 
 

 

11

Agenda Item A1



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 4 May 2022  
Development Control Report 

 
 
Call In 
This application has been brought to the Planning Committee at the request of Councillor 
Richichi and Councillor Clarke due to public interest. 
 
Proposal 
Planning permission is sought for the erection of one detached dwelling on land adjacent to 2 
Station Terrace and the creation of a new vehicular access on to Mill Lane. 
 
Consultations 
A total of 9 letters of neighbour representation objecting to the development have been 
received. 15 letters of support have also been received. Concerns have also been raised by the 
County Highway Authority. No further objections have been received from other statutory 
consultees who have responded during the consultation process. 
 
Planning Policy 
The site is located outside the Limits to Development as per the Policy Map of the adopted 
Local Plan. The application has also been assessed against the relevant policies within the 
NPPF (2021), the adopted Local Plan, the Council's Good Design Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD) and other relevant guidance. 
 
Conclusion 
The proposal would be outside the Limits to Development and would conflict with the settlement 
hierarchy and strategic housing aims of Policy S2. This application would also be contrary to 
Policy S3, as it is not a form of development supported in the countryside under Policy S3. This 
would be fundamentally at odds to the primary sustainability aims of the NPPF and would result 
in unwarranted development in the countryside. Furthermore, the proposal would create and 
exacerbate ribbon development contrary to the aims of Policy S3 (iii). 
 
The application has also failed to demonstrate that the proposed new vehicular access on to Mill 
Lane would be acceptable and without the relevant information to make an informed decision it 
cannot be substantiated that the proposal would not cause an unacceptable impact upon 
highway safety. It also cannot be ascertained whether the development would impact on users 
of Bridleway Q67 which is located directly opposite to the application site. In these 
circumstances the proposal would be contrary to highway safety policy IF4 of the adopted Local 
Plan, Paragraphs 110 and 111 of the NPPF and the Leicestershire Highways Design Guide. 
 
It is therefore recommended that the application should be refused on the above grounds. 
 
RECOMMENDATION- REFUSE. 
 
Members are advised that the above is a summary of the proposals and key issues 
contained in the main report below which provides full details of all consultation 
responses, planning policies and the Officer's assessment, and Members are advised 
that this summary should be read in conjunction with the detailed report. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

12



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 4 May 2022  
Development Control Report 

MAIN REPORT 
 
 
1. Proposals and Background 
 
Planning permission is sought for the erection of one dwelling and a new vehicular access on 
land adjacent to 2 Station Terrace, Heather. The application proposes a two storey dwelling with 
the first floor accommodation located within the roof space which includes dormer windows. The 
existing dwelling fronts onto Station Terrace, however the new dwelling would front and be 
served by a new vehicular access on to Mill Lane. 
 
The site lies outside of the Limits to Development as defined by the Policies Map to the adopted 
Local Plan. The site is therefore within the countryside as per Policy S3 of the adopted Local 
Plan. 
 
Amended plans have been received during the course of the application to amend materials and 
include an additional dormer window as per advice received from the Conservation Officer. 
Additional highways information has also been provided by the planning agent. 
 
Precise details of the proposal can be viewed on the submitted plans.   
 
Relevant Planning History 
 
02/00547/FUL - Erection of single storey side/rear extension Approved 15.05.2002. 
01/00785/OUT - Erection of dwelling (outline) Refused 09.11.2001. 
79/0445/P - Erection of a bungalow (Outline) Refused 25.07.1979. 
 
 
2.  Publicity 
 
7 neighbours notified. 
Site Notice displayed 4 March 2022. 
Press Notice published Leicester Mercury 9 March 2022. 
 
 
3. Summary of Consultations and Representations Received 
 
Heather Parish Council - have commented as follows: 
 
Please be aware that this application has been seen by our Parish Council. However the Chair 
of our council is the applicant and declared an interest at the beginning of the meeting and left 
the meeting when this application was discussed. Another of our councillors declared an interest 
in that he indicated that it adversely affected his property and he was going to respond as a 
neighbour consultee. Therefore, only four of our councillors' views are included in this 
statement. None of those councillors have any objection to this application.  
 
County Highway Authority - Have advised that insufficient information has been provided for 
the CHA to assess highway safety. 
 
NWLDC Conservation Officer - Originally raised concerns that the proposed development 
would result in less than substantial harm however amended plans have been received to 
address the concerns raised. 

13



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 4 May 2022  
Development Control Report 

 
No objections from: 
 
County Archaeologist 
LCC Minerals And Waste Planning 
 
No objections subject to conditions / Notes to applicant: 
 
Environmental Protection 
Tree Officer NWLDC 
LCC Ecology 
NWLDC Waste Service 
 
No response received from: 
 
Severn Trent Water 
 
Third Party Representations 
 
15 letters of neighbour support have been received, these are summarised as follows: 
 
- The design would be in keeping. 
- Most of the trees and hedges will be maintained. 
- The applicant is a nice person and a pillar of the community. 
- The development won't impact on neighbour's views. 
- A Positive change to housing trends. 
- The retirement bungalow will allow the applicant to remain living in Heather. 
- The development would not impact on neighbours. 
- There was a thatched cottage on this land historically. 
- The dwelling will enhance the landscape. 
- Minimal impact on the environment. 
- It's difficult to maintain the existing garden. 
- There haven't been any recent accidents on this stretch of Mill Lane. 
- The applicant keeps the existing property well maintained. 
- The applicant has struggled to find an alternative bungalow in Heather. 
- The applicant wants to continue to participate in village life. 
- The applicant is involved in lots of community groups and is a Parish Councillor. 
- 
 
9 letters objecting to the application have been received, these are summarised as follows: 
 
- Highway safety / traffic / busy road / speeding 
- The gated access will result in delivery vehicles reversing into Mill Lane which is busy. 
- The road is used by lots of commercial vehicles and tractors. 
- When the adjacent recreational fishing area is in use people often park on the road. 
- The bridge and bend in the road impacts on visibility. 
- Dwellings have been approved on the old brick yard site up the road which will further increase 
traffic. 
- Impact on bridleway users including horse riders. 
- The bridleway is used regularly by school children and the new development would affect their 
safety when crossing Mill Lane. 
- Poor visibility when people leave the bridleway and try to cross Mill Lane. 

14



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 4 May 2022  
Development Control Report 

- There is no bus service between Heather and Ibstock and as such more people walk in the 
area, especially school children. 
- Impact on the environment. 
- Loss of green belt land. 
- Impact on wildlife. 
- Impacts on River Sence and flooding. 
- Inadequate existing sewer systems. 
- The property is too large to be a retirement home. 
- Permission was refused 20 years ago for a dwelling on this site. 
-Impacts on the historic area of Heather. 
- Loss of privacy to dwelling opposite the site. 
 
A letter of objection has also been received from the President and Networks Officer for the 
Leicestershire and Rutland Bridleways Association. This is summarised as follows: 
 
- The proposed entrance would be opposite to Bridleway Q67 which runs from Mill Lane to 
Pisca Lane. 
-The bridleway is well used. 
- Concerns that people and children waiting to cross the road will not have adequate waiting 
space without being in the way of vehicles accessing the application site. 
- Concur with the County Highways Authority concerns about sightlines / visibility splays and 
traffic. 
- Poor pedestrian visibility due to high hedge. 
- Concerns over more dwelling being applied for on the application site in the future and 
implications from intensifying the access. 
 
 
4. Relevant Planning Policy 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (2021) 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out the Government's planning policies 
for England and how these are expected to be applied.  The following sections of the NPPF are 
considered relevant to the determination of this application:  
 
Paragraphs 7, 8 and 10 (Achieving sustainable development); 
Paragraph 11 (Presumption in favour of sustainable development); 
Paragraphs 55, 56 and 57 (Decision-making); 
Paragraphs 60, 69, 74, 75, 79 and 80 (Delivering a sufficient supply of homes); 
Paragraph 92 (Promoting healthy communities);  
Paragraphs 104, 105, 110, 11 and 112 (Promoting sustainable transport); 
Paragraphs 119, 120 and 124 (Making effective use of land); 
Paragraphs 126, 130, 132 and 134 (Achieving well-designed places); 
Paragraphs 152, 154, 157 (Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal 
change); 
Paragraphs 174, 180 and 182-185 (Conserving and enhancing the natural environment); 
Paragraphs 194, 195, 197, 199-203 and 205-207 (Conserving and enhancing the historic 
environment); and 
Paragraphs 209 and 212 (Facilitating the sustainable use of minerals). 
 
 
 

15



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 4 May 2022  
Development Control Report 

Adopted North West Leicestershire Local Plan (2021) 
 
The North West Leicestershire Local Plan forms part of the development plan and the following 
policies of the Local Plan are relevant to the determination of the application: 
 
S1 - Future Housing and Economic Development Needs; 
S2 - Settlement Hierarchy;  
S3 - Countryside; 
D1 - Design of new development;  
D2 - Amenity;  
H5 - Rural exception sites for affordable housing; 
IF4 - Transport Infrastructure and new development;  
IF7 - Parking provision and new development;  
En1 - Nature Conservation;  
En3 - The National Forest;  
En6 - Land and Air Quality; 
He1 - Conservation and enhancement of North West Leicestershire's historic environment; and 
Cc3 - Water - Sustainable Drainage Systems. 
 
Adopted Leicestershire Minerals and Waste Local Plan (September 2019) 
 
The Leicestershire Minerals and Waste Local Plan forms part of the development plan and the 
following policies are relevant to the determination of the application: 
 
Policy M11 - Safeguarding of Mineral Resources; and 
Policy M12 - Safeguarding of Existing Mineral Sites and Associated Minerals Infrastructure. 
 
Other Policies and Guidance 
 
National Planning Practice Guidance. 
Good Design for North West Leicestershire SPD - April 2017. 
National Design Guide - October 2019. 
Leicestershire Highways Design Guide (Leicestershire County Council). 
National Forest Strategy 2014-2024. 
Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
 
 
5. Assessment 
 
Principle and Sustainability 
 
In accordance with the provisions of Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004, the starting point for the determination of the current application is the Development 
Plan which, in this instance, comprises the adopted North West Leicestershire Local Plan 
(2021) and the Leicestershire Minerals and Waste Local Plan (2019). 
 
Neighbour concerns have been raised regarding the impact of the development on the 
environment. Residents have also mentioned concerns regarding impacts on green belt land. 
For the avoidance of doubt, it is highlighted that there is no green belt land within the district 
however the site is on land identified as Countryside as per Policy S3 of the adopted Local Plan. 
The principle of the proposal will be considered below. 
 

16



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 4 May 2022  
Development Control Report 

The application site lies outside the defined Limits to Development with residential dwellings not 
being a form of development permitted by Policy S3 of the adopted Local Plan.  
 
The application site lies outside the defined Limits to Development within the adopted Local 
Plans, with new dwellings not being a form of development permitted in the countryside by 
Policy S3.  Policy S2 of the adopted Local Plan also advises that in villages such as Heather a 
limited amount of growth will only take place within the Limits to Development.   
 
The NPPF requires that the Council should be able to identify a five year supply of housing land 
with an additional buffer of 5% or 20% depending on its previous record of housing delivery.  
The Council is able to demonstrate a five year supply of housing (with 20% buffer) against the 
housing requirement contained in the submitted Local Plan. 
 
The concept of new development being directed to locations that minimise reliance on the 
private motorcar is contained within paragraphs 7 and 8 of the NPPF. Policy S2 is consistent 
with the core principle of the National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) to actively 
manage patterns of growth to make the fullest possible use of public transport, walking and 
cycling, and focus significant development in locations which are or can be made sustainable.  
 
Paragraph 8 of the NPPF state that achieving sustainable development means that the planning 
system has three overarching objectives that should be adhered to. These objectives for 
achieving sustainability are social, economic and environmental. 
 
In respect of social sustainability, the District Council considers Heather to be a sustainable 
settlement for new residential development given the range of services available, including a 
shop, primary school and nursery, public houses, church and recreation ground as well as some 
limited employment uses including those along Mill Lane. These services would be within the 
800-1000m recommended walking distances from the application site. The site is also located 
on the edge of Ibstock, which is further away from the site however benefits from a more 
extensive range of services and facilities.   
 
It is accepted that the development has some potential to make a contribution to the economic 
sustainability aspect by virtue of the growth associated with the proposed development and via 
it's construction. However, this would be very limited given the minor scale of the proposal. 
 
In terms of environmental sustainability, the site is outside the defined Limits to Development on 
land identified as countryside. Therefore the 'principle' of the proposal would be in direct conflict 
with Policy S3 of the adopted Local Plan. It is also noted that whilst Policy S2 of the submitted 
Local Plan identifies Heather as a sustainable village, it does specify that any 'growth' should be 
proposed on land within the Limits to Development. As such this proposal would not accord with 
the details listed in the hierarchy of settlements as per Policy S2 of the adopted Local Plan. 
 
It is therefore considered that the application would fail to accord with the provisions required by 
the NPPF in relation to sustainable development as the scheme is considered to result in the 
unwarranted creation of dwellings within the Countryside.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

17



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 4 May 2022  
Development Control Report 

Policy S3 (i) - (vi) 
 
Development on land within the countryside is also required to be assessed against 
subparagraphs (i) - (vi) of Policy S3. An assessment of these subparagraphs is listed below: 
 
(i) The appearance and character of the landscape, including its historic character and features 
such as biodiversity, views, settlement pattern... 
 
Taking into account that the development would be sited within an existing garden, in close 
proximity to other dwellings, it is not considered that the proposal would result in any detrimental 
visual impacts to the wider open landscape. The site is well screened by existing hedgerows, 
most of which would be retained by this proposal, other than the section removed to create a 
new vehicular access. The land to the south of the site has the most open views into the 
countryside however this area is well landscaped by trees and it is considered the proposed 
development would not be especially prominent from land to the south owing to existing 
boundary landscaping.  
 
It is also noted that the building has been designed to have its first floor accommodation in the 
roof to reduce the overall maximum height of the building.  
 
In consideration of the above, it would be unreasonable to argue that the proposed development 
would be harmful to the existing character and landscape of the countryside. 
 
(ii) It does not undermine, either individually or cumulatively with existing or proposed 
development, the physical and perceived separation and open undeveloped character between 
nearby settlements... 
 
Due to the minor scale of the development proposed this application would not undermine the 
physical or perceived separation between nearby settlements. 
 
(iii) it does not create or exacerbate ribbon development 
 
It is noted that the Planning Portal defines 'ribbon development' as "development, usually 
residential, extending along one or both sides of a road but not extended in depth" with the 
dictionary definition being the "the building of houses along a main road, especially one leading 
from a town or village." 
 
This development would add a new dwelling and a new vehicular access along Mill Lane, which 
is a main road between Heather and Ibstock, and would therefore result in the creation of ribbon 
development.  
 
Whilst there are some other dwellings located on the South side of Mill Lane these would be 
between 200 - 330 metres from the application site and would not be read in the same context 
as the application site due to this separation distance, bends in the road and intervening 
recreation and industrial developments. It is also noted that there are a couple of dwellings on 
land opposite the application site however one is well screened by existing vegetation and the 
other is a historic listed building that has been on site for a considerable time. 
 
It is considered that there are not any existing dwellings on this particular stretch of the south 
side of Mill Lane. Therefore the creation of this new dwelling would turn the corner from the 
existing dwelling on Station Terrace and establish a new building line on Mill Lane. As such it is 
considered that this development would detrimentally exacerbate ribbon development that 

18



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 4 May 2022  
Development Control Report 

would allow an unnecessary and harmful sprawl of development on land in the Countryside 
contrary to the aims of Policy S3 (iii) 
 
(iv) built development is well integrated with existing development and existing buildings 
 
Given that the new development would be in close proximity to existing dwellings it is 
considered that the built development would be well integrated with existing development. 
 
(v) the development will not serious undermine the vitality and viability of existing town and local 
centres 
 
Given the residential nature of the proposal, this criterion is not considered to be relevant. 
 
(vi) the proposed development is accessible, or will be made accessible by a range of 
sustainable transport. 
 
The concept of new development being directed to locations that minimise reliance on the 
private motorcar is contained within paragraphs 7 and 8 of the NPPF. Policy S2 is consistent 
with the core principle of the NPPF to actively manage patterns of growth to make the fullest 
possible use of public transport, walking and cycling, and focus significant development in 
locations which are or can be made sustainable. 
 
This application site is located between Heather and Ibstock. Policy S2 of the adopted Local 
Plan highlights that Heather is a 'Sustainable Village' with Ibstock being identified as a 'Local 
Service Centre'. Such services which are available in Heather include a shop, school, public 
house and community centre with Ibstock offering a wider range of services. These 
services/facilities are within 800-1000m (preferred maximum walking distance) of the site.  
 
Future occupants of the application site would have access to public transport via a half-hourly 
bus service to Coalville operating from a bus stop on Station Road (Ibstock) which is within 
walking distance of the site. Whilst there is not a bus service in Heather itself there is a demand 
response transport (DRT) service which is operated by Coalville Yellow Cabs.  
 
The above services would be accessible via foot on raised footways, or cycling, and 
consequently future occupants of the properties would not necessarily be dependent on the 
private car to access the most basic of services and would support the approach to a low 
carbon economy. The provision of the dwellings would also assist in sustaining these services 
which is a key intention of Paragraph 78 of the NPPF. 
 
As such it is considered that the proposed development would accord with the aims of Policy S3 
(vi). 
 
Previously Developed Land 
 
It is noted that the applicant's submitted information argues that the proposed development 
could be supported under Local Plan Policies S2 and S3(e) (subject to subparagraphs (i) - (vi)) 
and the NPPF where it would be sited on 'Previously Developed land' (PDL).  
 
The NPPF defines PDL as land which is or was occupied by a permanent structure, including 
the curtilage of the developed land and any associated fixed surface infrastructure. However, 
this excludes land in built-up areas such as residential gardens. The site's location is bounded 
by and opposite to existing dwellings. As previously mentioned, the site is not far from Heather 

19



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 4 May 2022  
Development Control Report 

and Ibstock and the site is also in close proximity to neighbouring large industrial sites to the 
south-east and south-west of the application site. It is therefore considered this application site 
would be located in a 'built up area' and on that basis it would be excluded from the NPPF's 
definition of PDL. As such this development would not be supported under Policy S3 (e). 
 
Other Principle matters  
 
The supporting Design and Access statement mentions that the new dwelling would be an 
"affordable property" and as such the statement argues that this development would be 
acceptable on that basis in the countryside. However there has been no submitted information 
to establish an identified local need for affordable housing in Heather. The submitted information 
states that the property would be for the personal use of the applicant and would therefore not 
meet the criteria of a rural exceptions site for affordable housing as per Policy H5 of the adopted 
Local Plan. As such, this reasoning would not outweigh the harm to the Countryside. 
 
Members of the public have highlighted that the applicant's justification for the proposed new 
property is that it is required as a home for the applicant's retirement and the neighbour 
objection letters mention that the scale of the property is too large to be a retirement home. 
Notwithstanding this, there are no planning policies that support a home in the countryside on 
the basis of it being a "retirement house". The principle of the development is not supported 
under Policy S3 regardless of its scale. 
 
Whilst numerous letters of support have been received stating that the applicant wishes to 
remain living in Heather this does not justify the provision of a new dwelling in the countryside. 
 
Councillor Richichi supports the application and has referred to a planning application 
(19/00824/FULM) approved in 2021 for 14 dwellings on land to the north-east of the application 
site. Whilst those dwellings were approved outside of limits to development the site was 
brownfield land and was therefore supported as the development was located on previously 
developed land. This application is not considered to be Previously Developed Land. 
 
Residents letters of objection have referred to a historic planning application on this site 
(01/00785/OUT) which was refused in principle and due to highway safety. The previous 
application was considered over 20 years ago and there have been several changes in national 
and local planning policy since this time and that application is too old to be a material 
consideration in this application. Each application should be assessed on its own merits and this 
application has been assessed on the latest planning policies. Notwithstanding this, the same 
principal concerns have been identified for both the previous and current applications. 
 
Principle of development - Conclusion 
Accordingly, the application is not considered to represent sustainable development, a core 
objective of the NPPF, and therefore the application is not considered to be acceptable in 
relation to Policies S2 and S3 of the adopted Local Plan as well as the NPPF. Therefore, it is 
considered that overall, the proposal does not constitute sustainable development and the 
application should be refused in principle. 
 
The resulting environmental harm from these impacts would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the social and economic benefits.  Consequently, the proposal cannot be considered 
to represent sustainable development and, therefore, the application is not considered to be 
acceptable. 
 
The proposed development does not accord with either Policy S2 or Policy S3 of the adopted 

20



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 4 May 2022  
Development Control Report 

Local Plan which does not support residential development of this kind outside of the defined 
Limits to Development. On this basis there is direct conflict with the settlement hierarchy and 
strategic housing aims of Policy S2 with the proposed form of development also not being 
supported in the countryside under Policy S3 of the adopted Local Plan. The failure of the 
development to protect or enhance the natural environment would also be contrary to Policy S3 
as well as the core sustainability aims of Paragraphs 7 and 8 of the NPPF. It is also the case 
that the proposal would exacerbate ribbon development contrary to the aims of criterion (iii) of 
Policy S3. Such conflicts with Polices S2 and S3 of the adopted Local Plan would significantly 
and demonstrably outweigh the benefits of the proposal, and there are no other material 
considerations that would outweigh this harm. 
 
Design and Visual Impact 
 
The need for good design in new residential development is outlined not only in adopted Local 
Plan Policy D1 and the Council's Good Design SPD but also paragraphs 130 and 134 of the 
NPPF. 
 
The site is located outside the Limits to Development under the Local Plan. On this basis the 
proposal would be assessed against the context of Policy S3, and paragraph 174 of the NPPF 
which requires planning decisions to contribute to and enhance the natural and local 
environment by recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside.  
 
The application site is located within the garden of an existing property. In this case the existing 
dwelling fronts Station Terrace whereas the proposed new dwelling would be rotated at 90 
degrees from the existing property so that it would front Mill Lane. Given there are existing 
properties facing Mill Lane, including some directly opposite the site, it is considered that there 
are already examples of properties having a frontage relationship with Mill Lane. Therefore, the 
principle of the proposed layout is considered to be acceptable in design terms.  
 
It is noted that the principle section of this report has identified concerns with the proposal with 
regard to exacerbating ribbon development. To clarify, the assessment of the scheme in relation 
to its design and visual impact is based solely on the compliance of the scheme with policy 
relating to the encroachment of development into the countryside. The physical impact of the 
scheme and how that impacts on the surrounding area is a different argument to this and having 
regards to the assessment below, is not considered to be harmful and would not be a 
subsequent reason for refusal. 
 
The submitted plans propose a new detached dwelling which would be two storey in height with 
the first floor accommodation being within the roof space and the inclusion of dormer windows. 
It is noted that the scale of the property would be larger and would be different in appearance 
from the existing properties on Station Terrace, which are generally two storey terraced / semi-
detached dwellings. However, as the new dwelling would front Mill Lane it is considered that the 
new development would be acceptable in the context of neighbouring dwellings and the street 
scene on Mill Lane. As such this development would accord with Policies S3(i) and (iv) and D1 
of the adopted Local Plan.  
 
The proposed density of the site is considered appropriate having regard to the location of the 
site within the countryside and the character of the area.  Furthermore both the proposed 
dwelling and the exiting property would each have a footprint that would be at least equal to its 
outdoor amenity space, as recommended in the Council's Good Design Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD). As such the proposal is not considered to result in overdevelopment 
of the site.  

21



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 4 May 2022  
Development Control Report 

 
There is a public right of way directly across the road from the application site and the 
development would be highly visible from the public highway. Given the site's location in the 
countryside it is recommended that some landscaping should be retained, particularly along the 
site boundaries. The proposed site plan indicates that large areas of the existing boundary 
hedgerow would be retained and it is considered that this matter could be adequately secured 
via a condition.   
 
It is noted that there are some minor design features, such as dormer windows, which might be 
somewhat out of keeping with the immediate street scene. However, there are examples of 
dormer windows on properties located on Mill Lane and therefore the principle of this is not 
detrimental to the character of the area. 
 
It is considered that the site would accommodate all of the necessary requirements such as 
private gardens, frontage landscaping, parking/turning space, bin storage and collection for the 
existing and proposed dwellings, without being cramped.   
 
Therefore, the proposal would not result in any harmful impacts to the character or appearance 
of the street scene or the rural landscape. As such, the development would accord with Policies 
S3 (i) and (iv) D1 of the Local Plan, the Council's Good Design SPD and the design aims of the 
NPPF. 
 
Historic Environment 
 
Concerns have been raised by neighbouring residents regarding the impacts of the proposal on 
heritage assets in the locality.  
 
Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires the 
local planning authority to preserve the setting of listed buildings when considering whether or 
not to grant planning permission for development.  
 
The NPPF says that development should be "visually attractive as a result of good architecture" 
and it should contribute positively to "local character and distinctiveness". The significance of a 
listed building may be harmed by unsympathetic development "within its setting" (see 
paragraphs 130, 190 and 200). 
 
Policy He1 of the adopted Local Plan also aims to secure the conservation and enhancement of 
North West Leicestershire's historic environment.  
 
The Conservation Officer has been consulted on this application and has advised that the 
development at the application site may affect the setting of The Old Mill, which is a listed 
building directly opposite to the site.  
 
Station Terrace contains three terraces and four semi-detached pairs. The terraced houses 
were originally faced in red brick but most have been rendered. The semi-detached pairs are 
faced in pale red brick. All roofs are covered with concrete tiles. On the north side of Mill Lane a 
bungalow is concealed from view. The former station master's house has a slate roof while Mill 
Farmhouse has a blue plain tile roof. 
 
It is proposed to erect a two storey dwelling with accommodation at first floor being within the 
roof space. The original plans for the new dwelling included one dormer window and would have 
been faced in white through-colour render beneath a gabled roof covered with dark grey plain 

22



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 4 May 2022  
Development Control Report 

tiles. The roof would be a dominant visual feature in the street scene and as such the 
Conservation Officer requested blue roof tiles so that they would be sympathetic to local 
distinctiveness and would reflect the character of the listed building. The Conservation Officer 
also requested an additional dormer window to provide a symmetrical appearance and it was 
also recommended that the render was amended to red brick which is the locally distinctive 
facing material. Those amendments have now been received in accordance with the 
Conservation Officer's advice and therefore the proposal is considered to have an acceptable 
impact on the setting of the neighbouring listed building. 
 
Therefore the proposal would comply with the aims of the NPPF, Policy HE1 of the Local Plan 
and Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 
 
Residential Amenities 
 
By virtue of the corner plot location of the site, and its distance from surrounding neighbouring 
dwellings, the only neighbouring property likely to be affected by the proposed development is 
the existing dwelling, No.2 Station Terrace, to the south-east of the proposed new dwelling.  
 
The proposal demonstrates that there would be a separation distance of at least 15 metres from 
the rear elevation of 2 Station Terrace and the side elevation of the new dwelling. This would 
comply with the recommended separation distanced as per the Council's Good Design SPD. 
 
Whilst the proposed dwelling would be in close proximity to the rear garden boundary of No.2 
Station Terrace, there would be no upper floor windows proposed on the nearest side elevation 
of the new dwelling. Given this close relationship, a first floor window here could result in the 
perception of overlooking even if it was obscurely glazed. It is considered that a condition could 
be added to remove permitted development rights to prevent the addition of a new upper floor 
window for this elevation. 
 
The owners of The Old Mill on the opposite side of Mill Lane have raised concerns with the Loss 
of privacy to their home and their front garden. As the front garden is already visible from the 
public highway this would not be considered as a private space that should be protected under 
planning policy. Notwithstanding this the proposed new dwelling would be at least 12 metres 
from the neighbour's front garden with a road separating the properties. The front elevation of 
the proposed dwelling would also be at least 60 metres from The Old Mill. As such these 
separation distances are considered to be acceptable in accordance with the Council's Good 
Design SPD. 
 
Overall the proposal would not result in any adverse overlooking, overshadowing or overbearing 
impacts. As such it is considered the proposal would accord with the guidelines of the Council's 
Good Design SPD and would comply with Policy D2 of the Local Plan. 
 
Highway Safety 
 
Several neighbour objections have been raised regarding highway safety matters. Concerns 
have also been raised regarding highway safety and safety impacts for users of Bridleway Q67, 
which is located on land opposite the site. The President and Networks Officer for the 
Leicestershire and Rutland Bridleways Association has provided a letter of representation 
emphasising concerns with the proposed development and its impacts on the safety of users of 
the Bridleway, particularly when crossing the road on Mill Lane. 
 
The County Highway Authority (CHA) initial response on this application advised the Local 

23



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 4 May 2022  
Development Control Report 

Planning Authority that further information would be required to fully assess the impact of the 
proposed development on the highway network. The additional information requested by the 
CHA was as follows: 
 
a) A scaled drawing which demonstrates the achievable vehicular visibility splays in both 
directions of the proposed site access, which does not include any third-party land; 
 
b) Speed survey data to determine the 85th percentile speeds of vehicles along Mill Lane; 
 
c) An amended plan which demonstrates that the gate would be set-back a minimum distance 
of 5 metres from the back of the footway; 
 
d) An amended parking plan which demonstrates that two off-street car parking spaces could be 
achieved on the site which comply with the minimum requirements of Figure DG13 of Part 3 of 
the Leicestershire Highway Design Guide (LHDG); and 
 
e) Drainage details to ensure that water would not drain into the public highway. 
 
Following the CHA's previous observations, the following documentation has been submitted: 
 
- An email response from the agent; 
- 120m Visibility Display drawing number 8514-03-03 Rev A; 
- Proposed Plans, Elevations & Sections drawing number 8514-03-02 Rev B; 
- Proposed Site Plan drawing number 8514-03-01 Rev C; and 
- Amended Highway Plan drawing reference NDI/HRE/2203102 100/A. 
 
On the basis of the new information the CHA is satisfied that the gate would be set back a 
minimum distance of 5 metres from the back of the footway in accordance with paragraph 3.199 
of Part 3 of the LHDG. Likewise, the CHA is also satisfied that the proposed drainage channel at 
the edge of the highway boundary would be sufficient to prevent water runoff from the site onto 
the public highway. 
 
The CHA has reviewed the Proposed Site Plan (Rev C) and acknowledges that 2 off-street car 
parking spaces could be achieved on the site which comply with the minimum requirements of 
Figure DG13 of Part 3 of the LHDG. 
 
With regard to visibility splays, the CHA has reviewed the email from agent and the applicant's 
Highway Consultant which argues that a new speed survey is not required as there have been 
other speed surveys undertaken in the area recently. The CHA have taken this into 
consideration, however as the exiting data was collected more than 3 years before this 
application was submitted the CHA have advised that they are unable to accept it as a basis for 
determining the required visibility splays for the proposed site access.  
 
The CHA therefore maintains its advice to the Local Planning Authority that a new speed survey 
should be undertaken to ascertain up-to-date 85th percentile vehicle speeds in the location of 
the proposed site access. This data should then be used as the basis for determining the 
required visibility splays for the proposed site access, in line with Table DG4 of Part 3 of the 
Leicestershire Highway Design Guide (LHDG). 
 
Without the requested information it is also not possible to fully assess the impacts of the 
proposed development on the bridleway on the opposite side of Mill Lane. Therefore it cannot 
be concluded at this stage whether or not there would be adverse impacts on members of the 

24



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 4 May 2022  
Development Control Report 

public who use the bridleway. 
 
Paragraph 111 of the NPPF advises that development should only be prevented or refused on 
highway grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual 
cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.  In this circumstance further 
information has been requested from the planning agent with regards to the matters listed 
above however not all of the necessary information has been provided during the course of the 
application. 
 
In conclusion, on this basis the Local Planning Authority are unable to make an informed 
decision without all of the details requested. As such it is recommended that the application 
should be refused due to failure to demonstrate a safe and suitable site access for the 
development. Without the relevant information to make an informed decision it cannot be 
substantiated that the proposal would not cause an unacceptable impact upon highway safety 
or on the users of the public bridleway on the opposite side of the road. Furthermore these 
highways safety concerns raised by members of the public cannot be concluded. In these 
circumstances the proposal would be contrary to highway safety policy IF4 of the adopted Local 
Plan, Paragraphs 110 and 111 of the NPPF and the Leicestershire Highways Design Guide. 
 
Trees 
 
The proposal includes the removal of a Willow tree growing in the centre of the site, but the 
Council's Tree Officer has advised that this tree is of limited value and there are no 
arboricultural objections to its removal. The remaining trees on site will require protection during 
the development works. The Proposed Site Plan (8514-03-01 Rev A) includes the BS5837:2012 
specification for tree protection fencing which would be acceptable. However, it does not show 
the proposed position for the fencing to protect the trees. If the application was to be 
recommended for approval, then this detail could be secured by condition. 
 
In view of the above the application would accord with Policy En3 of the adopted Local plan. 
 
Flood Risk 
 
Concerns have been raised by neighbouring residents regarding Impacts on River Sence and 
flooding resulting from the proposed development. This will be considered further below. 
 
Several comments from members of the public have also been received regarding existing 
inadequate sewer systems. This is the responsibility of Severn Trent Ltd who have not 
commented on this application. This matter would fall outside of planning controls. 
 
The application site is within Flood Zone 1 and there are no areas at risk of surface water 
flooding within the site. Flood Zones 2 and 3 are located nearby on land to the west and south 
of the application site with there also being areas at risk of surface water flooding on land to the 
north, south and west of the application site. 
 
The proposal would increase areas of hard standing including areas for off street parking. 
Notwithstanding this, if the application was recommended for approval then a surface water 
drainage scheme could be secured by condition to prevent any adverse drainage on to 
neighbouring land. Overall it is unlikely that the scale of this proposal would adversely affect the 
current drainage of the site.  
 
The River Sense lies approximately 65 metres to the north-west of the proposed new dwelling. 

25



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 4 May 2022  
Development Control Report 

The proposed development would also be approximately 20 metres from a private fishing lake 
to the rear (south) of the site. Given these distances and that the application site falls outside of 
Flood Zones 2 and 3 it is not considered that the proposal would result in contamination of the 
watercourse during construction of the proposal. Therefore no construction management 
conditions should be necessary in this regard. 
 
Taking the above into account, the proposal is unlikely to result in an increase in flooding on the 
site or elsewhere and so would comply with Policies CC2 and CC3 of the Local Plan. 
 
Protected Species/Ecology 
 
Concerns have been raised by members of the public regarding the development's impact on 
wildlife. 
 
The County Ecologist has no objections to the proposed development as it forms part of a 
private garden.  However, conditions to secure bat boxes and a landscaping scheme are 
recommended to contribute towards biodiversity net gain on site. 
 
On this basis it is considered that the proposal would not adversely impact on protected species 
or ecological features and the proposal complies with the Habitats Regulations 2017 and Policy 
En1 of the Local Plan. 
 
Minerals 
 
The site lies within a Mineral Safeguarding Area for shallow/surface coal and therefore Policy 
M11 of the Minerals and Waste Local Plan is relevant. However, the Mineral Planning Authority 
(Leicestershire County Council) does not believe that the proposed development would 
adversely sterilize any mineral deposits if present, and advises that a Mineral Assessment is not 
required in this instance.  As such the proposal would not conflict with Policy M11. 
 
Conclusion 
 
In conclusion, the proposal would be outside the Limits to Development and would conflict with 
the settlement hierarchy and strategic housing aims of Policy S2 of the Local Plan, and would 
also be contrary to Policy S3, as it is not a form of development supported in the countryside 
under Policy S3. This would be at odds with the primary sustainability aims of the NPPF and 
would result in unwarranted development in the countryside. Furthermore, the proposal would 
create and exacerbate ribbon development contrary to the aims of Policy S3 (iii). The proposal 
would be fundamentally at odds with the settlement hierarchy and strategic housing aims of 
Policy S2 and the countryside Policy S3 in the adopted Local Plan.  Approval of the application 
would result in the unnecessary development of land located outside Limits to Development, not 
constituting sustainable development, and contrary to the policies and intentions of Policies S2 
and S3 of the adopted Local Plan and the advice in the NPPF. 
 
The application has also failed to demonstrate that the proposed new vehicular access on to Mill 
Lane would be acceptable and without the relevant information to make an informed decision it 
cannot be substantiated that the proposal would not cause an unacceptable impact upon 
highway safety. In these circumstances the proposal would be contrary to highway safety policy 
IF4 of the adopted Local Plan, Paragraphs 110 and 111 of the NPPF and the Leicestershire 
Highways Design Guide. 
 
It is therefore recommended that the application should be refused on the above grounds. 

26



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 4 May 2022  
Development Control Report 

 
RECOMMENDATION - REFUSE, for the following reasons: 
 
 
1 Policy S3 of the adopted North West Leicestershire Local Plan provides a presumption 

against non-essential residential development outside the Limits to Development with 
Paragraph 174 of the NPPF indicating that planning should recognise the intrinsic 
character and beauty of the countryside. The dwelling would result in the unnecessary 
development of land located outside limits to development.  

 
The proposed development does not accord with the above criteria and Policy S2 of the 
adopted Local Plan does not support residential development of this kind outside of the 
defined Limits to Development. On this basis there is direct conflict with the settlement 
hierarchy and strategic housing aims of Policy S2 with the proposed form of 
development also not being supported in the countryside under Policy S3 of the adopted 
Local Plan. The failure of the development to protect or enhance the natural environment 
would also be contrary to Policy S3 as well as the core sustainability aims of Paragraphs 
7 and 8 of the NPPF. It is also the case that the proposal would create ribbon 
development contrary to the aims of criterion (iii) of Policy S3. Furthermore, the Local 
Authority can demonstrate a five year housing land supply. 

 
The proposed new dwelling would not meet the requirements for an exceptions site for 
affordable housing under Policy H5 of the adopted Local Plan and therefore, 
consideration of the applications falls under Policy S3 of the adopted Local Plan which 
does not support residential development on greenfield sites outside Limits to 
Development. The proposal would be fundamentally at odds with the settlement 
hierarchy and strategic housing aims of Policy S2 and the countryside Policy S3 in the 
adopted Local Plan.  Approval of the application would result in the unnecessary 
development of land located outside Limits to Development, not constituting sustainable 
development, and contrary to the policies and intentions of Policies S2 and S3 of the 
adopted Local Plan and the advice in the NPPF. 

 
On this basis, to permit the development would be contrary to the environmental strands 
of sustainability enshrined within the NPPF, as well as Paragraph 174 of the NPPF, 
Policy S3 of the adopted Local Plan. This would result in unwarranted development in 
the countryside. Such conflicts with the adopted Local Plan would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh any benefits of the proposal, and there are no other material 
considerations that would outweigh this harm. 

 
2 Paragraph 111 of the NPPF (2021) outlines, amongst other things, that development 

should only be prevented or refused on highway grounds if there would be an 
unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road 
network would be severe. Paragraph 110 of the NPPF outlines that it should be ensured, 
under criteria (b), that safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all users. 
Policy IF4 of the adopted North West Leicestershire Local Plan identifies, amongst other 
matters, that the District Council, in conjunction with the highway authorities, would 
ensure that development takes account of the impact upon the highway network and 
incorporates safe and accessible connections to the transport network. 

 
The applicant has failed to demonstrate that an appropriate and safe vehicular access 
could be provided to the proposed development. If permitted, the development could 
consequently result in an unacceptable form of development and could lead to dangers 

27



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 4 May 2022  
Development Control Report 

for users of the highway. It has also not been demonstrated that no harm would arise to 
users of footpath Q67 which is located directly opposite the application site. The 
proposal therefore is not in the interest of highway safety. In these circumstances to 
permit the development would be contrary to Policy IF4 of the adopted Local Plan and 
Paragraphs 110 and 111 of the NPPF. 

 
 
   
 
 

28



PLANNING APPLICATIONS- SECTION A  

Planning Committee 4 May 2022  
Development Control Report 

 
 
Part demolition of existing building, erection of a two storey 
extension and change of use to five assisted living flats 
alongside other external works and alterations 

 Report Item No  
A2  

 
2 - 4 Central Road Hugglescote Coalville Leicestershire LE67 
2FD  

Application Reference  
21/00896/FUL  

 
Grid Reference (E) 442581 
Grid Reference (N) 312840 
 
Applicant: 
Mrs Patience Oyeniran 
 
Case Officer: 
Jen Wallis 
 
Recommendation: 
PERMIT  
 

Date Registered:  
12 May 2021 

Consultation Expiry: 
21 September 2021 

8 Week Date: 
7 July 2021 

Extension of Time: 
None Agreed 

 
Site Location - Plan for indicative purposes only   

 
     

Reproduced from Ordnance Survey material with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the controller of Her Majesty’s Stationery Office 
copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.  Licence LA 100019329) 

 

29

Agenda Item A2



OTHER MATTERS - SECTION B  

Planning Committee 4 May 2022  
Development Control Report 

 
Call In 
 
The application is brought to Planning Committee at the request of Councillor Johnson due to 
not being in the public interest, impact on residential amenity and highway safety.  
 
Proposal 
Full planning permission is sought for the partial demolition of the existing building, erection of a 
two storey extension and change of use to five assisted living flats. The site is located within the 
Limits to Development, as defined by the Policy Map to the adopted Local Plan.  
 
Consultations 
4 neighbour objections have been received to the proposal at the time of writing this report. 
Hugglescote Parish Council have raised concerns with regards to the proximity of the 
development to the junction, parking and highway safety. No other objections have been 
received from statutory consultees who have responded during the consultation process. 
 
Planning Policy 
The application has been assessed against paragraphs of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) as well as the relevant policies of the adopted Local Plan, adopted 
Neighbourhood Plan and other guidance.  
 
Conclusion 
The principle of the development is acceptable. The proposal is not considered to have any 
significant detrimental design, residential amenity or highway impacts. There are no other 
relevant material planning considerations that indicate planning permission should not be 
granted. The proposal is deemed to comply with the relevant policies in the adopted Local Plan, 
the Hugglescote Neighbourhood Plan and the advice in the NPPF.  
 
RECOMMENDATION - PERMIT, subject to conditions 
 
Members are advised that the above is a summary of the proposals and key issues 
contained in the main report below which provides full details of all consultation 
responses, planning policies, the Officer's assessment and recommendations, and 
Members are advised that this summary should be read in conjunction with the detailed 
report. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

30



OTHER MATTERS - SECTION B  

Planning Committee 4 May 2022  
Development Control Report 

MAIN REPORT 
 
 
1. Proposals and Background 
 
The proposal comprises the part demolition of the existing building, the erection of a two-storey 
extension and the change of use to five assisted living flats, alongside other external works and 
alterations. The property currently has a large single storey side extension which is proposed to 
be demolished and replaced with a two-storey side extension.  
 
The accommodation would provide 5 flats spread over the two floors, with 3 x 1-bedroom flats 
on the ground floor with 1 single and 1 x 2-bedroom flats on the first floor. Each flat would have 
a bathroom and open plan kitchen/living space.  
 
The proposal would provide accommodation for people with health/learning difficulties who want 
to live within the local community. The five flats would be let to 5 individual residents at any 
given time and one member of staff would attend site to provide care at any given time. The 
residents would have 24-hour care with some of the care hours split across the day. The 
residents would be supported to live independently in the community. The support staff would 
be based next door at 6 Central Road.  
 
Revised plans have been submitted to address design issues raised by Officers.  
 
The site accommodates the end terrace of three units and is a two-storey building with a painted 
façade under a slate roof. There is a bay window on the ground floor and a pedestrian access to 
the north providing access to this and the neighbouring property. On the southern elevation 
there is a large, rendered lean to extension with two other additions of diminishing scale to the 
rear of this, the end portion having a flat roof. At the rear of the main part of the dwelling there is 
a two-storey mono-pitch roof. There is undeveloped land associated with the property to the 
south.  
 
The site is located within Limits to Development, as defined by the Policy Map to the adopted 
Local Plan. Precise measurements of the proposal are available to view on the submitted plans.  
 
Planning History 
 
20/00443/FUL Change of use to 9 no. assisted living units to include part demolition of existing 
dwelling and internal alterations, erection of a three-storey extension and associated site 
alterations - Withdrawn. 
 
 
2.  Publicity 
19 neighbours notified. 
Site Notice displayed 17 May 2021. 
 
 
3. Summary of Consultations and Representations Received 
 
Parish Council Object on the grounds that the proposed development is too close to the 
junction with Grange Road/Station Road/Ashburton Road, access & egress is on a blind corner, 
vehicles from the site would encounter standing traffic on Grange Road and be faced with traffic 
from the other three roads, to access/exit the site the movement would be to access from 

31



OTHER MATTERS - SECTION B  

Planning Committee 4 May 2022  
Development Control Report 

Grange Road from the direction of Birch Tree roundabout and exiting in the same direction 
which cannot be determined, visibility for drivers of vehicles turning left from Central Road will 
also be hindered, there is insufficient parking on site for day, overnight staff and visitors, delivery 
and any emergency vehicles, any vehicle entering or leaving the site will be crossing traffic flow, 
staff will be potentially arriving and leaving at peak periods which includes Hugglescote school 
drop off/pick up times, the accommodation proposals are overdevelopment given the location.  
 
Highways No objection to the revised plans subject to conditions and informatives.  
 
Conservation Officer No objection subject to a condition relating to materials.   
 
Environmental Protection No objection. 
 
LCC Ecology No objection subject to a condition regarding swifts.   
 
Ward Members Cllr Russell Johnson has stated there is no construction management plan with 
this application and refers to the previous application of this site 20/00443/FUL which was 
refused on highway grounds. 
 
Third Party Representations Four representations received raising concerns that there is 
insufficient space on site for the staff required, the site is adjacent to one of the busiest junctions 
in the area with the exit being blind from Central Road and very little visibility from the east, 
inadequate parking for the site and the roads around are already clogged with parked vehicles 
or are double yellow lines, significant congestion already, impact on safety of existing crossing, 
insufficient space for emergency vehicles, parking, deliveries and construction vehicles, there 
would be overlooking neighbouring gardens, the amenities within the village are not enough to 
support the ever increasing population, public transport is also poor so would not support these 
new residents moving to use amenities in other areas. 
 
 
4. Relevant Planning Policy 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (2021) 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out the Government's planning policies 
for England and how these are expected to be applied. 
  
Adopted North West Leicestershire Local Plan (2021) 
 
The following policies of the adopted Local Plan are consistent with the policies in the NPPF 
and should be afforded weight in the determination of this application:  
 
S2 - Settlement Hierarchy  
D1 - Design of new development  
D2 - Amenity  
IF4 - Transport Infrastructure and new development  
IF7 - Parking provision and new development  
EN1 - Nature Conservation 
 
 
 
 

32



OTHER MATTERS - SECTION B  

Planning Committee 4 May 2022  
Development Control Report 

Neighbourhood Plan 
 
The Hugglescote and Donington le Heath Neighbourhood Plan forms part of the development 
plan and the following policies of the Neighbourhood Plan are relevant to the determination of 
the application: 
 
G1 Limits to Development 
G3 Design 
H1 Housing Mix 
ENV4 Non-designated Heritage Assets 
T2 Residential and Public Car Parking 
 
Other Policies and Guidance 
 
National Planning Practice Guidance 
Leicestershire Highways Design Guidance (Leicestershire County Council)  
Good Design for North West Leicestershire SPD - April 2017  
 
 
5. Assessment 
 
Principle of Development 
 
The site is located within Limits to Development as defined by the adopted Local Plan and 
Neighbourhood Plan, where the principle of extensions and alterations to existing dwellings and 
the provision of housing are acceptable, subject to all other planning matters being addressed.  
 
The existing building comprises a three-bedroom dwelling (Use Class C3(a)) and the proposal 
would provide five separate flats with 4 x 1-bedroom flats and 1 x 2-bedroom flat. The flats are 
all separate units without any communal facilities which would result in the residents being able 
to live separate lives within the property with an element of care being available to them. 
Therefore, in line with the decision of The Right Honorable Mr Justice Holgate in the Secretary 
for Housing and Communities and Local Government versus South Oxfordshire case law dated 
the 8th July 2020 the proposal would amount to the change of use of the existing property to a 
Use Class C2 residential institution use which is considered to be a single planning unit with the 
provision of care to the residents where they need it.  
 
 The application states the proposal is to lease the units to a Registered Provider for the 
purpose of supported living. The tenants occupying the property would be working age adults 
with diagnosed learning disabilities and/or autism and be in receipt of a core package to assist 
with their day to day living, to be provided by a separate Support Provider commissioned by the 
Local Authority. In addition, an on-site management agreement would be agreed with the 
Registered Provider which would outline which party would be responsible in relation to the 
management of the property. Staff would be based in the adjacent property, 6 Central Road.  
 
To maintain a good quality living environment, all communal areas of the building would be 
monitored by cctv and communal areas including secure cycle store and green outdoor space 
would be provided. The internal community facilities would be managed by staff on a daily 
basis. The scheme would have cctv installation enabling on-site and off-site staff to monitor 
remotely. 
 
The proposal seeks to provide new accommodation for residents to live within the community 

33



OTHER MATTERS - SECTION B  

Planning Committee 4 May 2022  
Development Control Report 

but on an assisted basis.  
 
The proposal is considered appropriate for the location and complies with Policy S2 of the Local 
Plan and Policies G1 and H1 of the Neighbourhood Plan.  
 
Scale and Design 
 
The proposal comprises the removal of the single storey elements to the side/rear of the 
property and the erection of a two-storey side extension. Policy D1 of the Local Plan seeks a 
high standard of design along with the SPD and Policy G3 of the Neighbourhood Plan.  
 
The side/rear elements added to the property are unsympathetic and unsightly and the harm to 
the building and street scene is increased by the prominent siting of the building and site, 
adjacent to the crossroads. Furthermore, the existing boundary treatment and vacant 
appearance detracts from the site and surroundings. As such, the removal of these elements is 
supported.  
 
The proposed extensions have been scaled down from the previous application and amended 
during this application. The two-storey extension to the side of the building would be set back 
from the façade and would have a lower ridge height than the existing. The rear projecting wing 
would also be set in from the side of the proposed extension to reduce the massing and to 
better articulate the addition.  
 
Although the rear gable would benefit from being slightly narrower, approaching half of that 
gable already exists on the existing building. Overall, it is considered that the design approach, 
to reflect the traditional characteristics of the building, is appropriate and the proposal would 
result in a substantial improvement over the existing extensions and appearance of the site. 
Subject to conditions relating to materials, no objection is raised on visual grounds to the 
extension.  
 
The existing boundary treatment comprises concrete stanchions and wire mesh fencing and is 
an unattractive feature within the street scene. It is proposed to replace this with a brick dwarf 
wall with black painted railings; this is considered a suitable boundary treatment and would 
visually enhance the site and surroundings. A timber close boarded fence is proposed along the 
rear boundary and along the side boundary with the adjoining property.  
 
Hugglescote Community Centre is to the south of the site and is a non-designated heritage 
asset in the Neighbourhood Plan and as such Policy ENV4 applies. It is considered the current 
condition and appearance of the site and building detracts from the setting of this asset and that 
the proposals would enhance the site and therefore benefit the setting of the community 
building.  
 
The development is therefore considered to be compliant with Policy D1 of the adopted Local 
Plan, Policy G3 of the Neighbourhood Plan, the Council's Good Design SPD and the advice 
contained within the NPPF.  
 
Impact upon Residential Amenity 
 
The proposal comprises the change of use from a dwelling to five assisted flats and extensions 
to the building. The use would increase the occupancy of the building from the current three 
bedrooms to 4 x 1-bedroom flats and 1 x 2-bedroom flat, totalling 6 bedrooms. The proposed 
use of the enlarged building would be more intensive than the existing three-bedroom dwelling. 

34



OTHER MATTERS - SECTION B  

Planning Committee 4 May 2022  
Development Control Report 

However, the number of flats would be limited to five with six bedrooms in total. It is not 
considered that this level of accommodation would lead to an unacceptable impact on the 
residential amenities of occupiers of neighbouring properties. In planning terms, the property 
would still be classified as a dwellinghouse  
 
To the north, the application dwelling is attached to the neighbouring property. The proposed 
two-storey extension would include the existing two-storey rear projection and this would 
incorporate a bedroom window in the ground floor side elevation; however, any potential 
overlooking or loss of privacy would be mitigated by boundary treatment which would comprise 
close boarded fencing. The first-floor side elevation would incorporate a bathroom window as 
existing which could be conditioned to be obscure glazed. The impact of the proposed two-
storey rear projection would be comparable to the existing and would not be unduly harmful to 
the amenity of the adjoined property.  
 
To the east, the site looks into the side elevation of the neighbouring dwelling which presents a 
blank gable to the side with a two-storey rear projection set further from the boundary; this 
elevation includes a first-floor window. The proposal would increase the width of the two-storey 
rear gable and would include one bedroom window; this is similar to the existing. Given this and 
the separation distances, it is not considered the proposal would lead to undue overlooking or 
loss of privacy of this neighbouring property.  
 
To the south and west the highway would intervene.  
 
The proposal also includes a single storey lean to extension to the rear. This would be set off 
the boundary to the north and a significant distance eastern boundary. Given the limited 
dimensions and the separation distance, this element would not unduly affect residential 
amenity.  
 
The bin storage is proposed in the south-eastern corner of the site. It is considered that subject 
to a condition detailing the nature of the storage, this would not lead to undue impacts on the 
neighbouring properties.  
 
Overall, the proposal is not considered to result in any unacceptable impacts upon surrounding 
residential amenity when having regard to overlooking, overbearing or overshadowing impacts. 
Furthermore, the proposed use of the building would not result in undue levels of noise or 
disturbance to occupiers of neighbouring properties. Therefore, the proposed development is 
considered to be in accordance with Policy D2 of the adopted Local Plan.  
 
Highway Considerations 
 
The proposal as originally submitted sought to utilise the access onto Grange Road and the 
Highway Authority recommended refusal on the grounds that this would lead to the 
intensification of use of an access which has substandard vehicular visibility and no separation 
between the existing pedestrian crossing and vehicular access.  
 
Following this, revised plans were submitted omitting this access from the proposals. The latest 
plan shows the access closed up and replaced with the proposed boundary wall.  
 
The Agent has confirmed that residents will not own/drive vehicles and therefore no on-site 
parking for residents would be required. The Agent also confirmed that carers would use public 
transport and not travel in their own vehicles and notes the proximity of bus stops to the site.  
The site is located adjacent to the signalised crossroads junction of Central Road, Grange 

35



OTHER MATTERS - SECTION B  

Planning Committee 4 May 2022  
Development Control Report 

Road, Ashburton Road and Station Road. The crossroads junction is protected by a 
comprehensive package of on-street parking controls. 
 
As there is no longer vehicular access to the site proposed, there is no parking proposed within 
the site. Typically for this type of development parking should be provided on the basis of one 
car space per four bedrooms plus one car space for each staff member on site. The Transport 
Statement states that there are expected to be a maximum of two-three members of staff on site 
at any one time. Therefore based on the proposed six bedrooms, there should be 4 parking 
spaces provided. However, the staff would be based at 6 Central Road, a property also within 
the ownership of the applicant.  
 
However, it is noted that the Transport Statement also states that due to the nature of the 
proposed site, residents are not expected to hold a driving licence and as such would not 
require parking facilities and would use public transport or cycles to access local services.  
 
Whilst the shortfall of four parking spaces is not ideal, the Highway Authority seek to resist a  
proposal only where there would be unacceptable impacts on highway safety or where the 
impacts on the road network would be severe. Given the existing on-street parking controls 
protecting the crossroads junction, the Highway Authority does not consider that the shortfall of 
four parking spaces could be considered severe in the context of paragraph 111 of the NPPF 
and conclude it would be unreasonable to seek to resist the proposal. 
 
The Transport Statement states that the use of sustainable transport options to travel to and 
from the site via a Travel Plan would be encouraged. Although this would be welcomed, given 
the relatively limited nature of the proposal, it is not considered reasonable to seek a travel plan 
via a condition. A condition requiring further details of a covered cycle store is recommended. 
 
Furthermore, the nearest bus stops are located within 135m of the site, which are connected by 
existing footways and are served by frequent services to Coalville and Ibstock, and hourly 
services to Ravenstone and Hinckley. 
 
The application property is currently a residential dwelling and No. 6 (the premises for the staff) 
is a residential dwelling. No. 6 currently has no off street parking provision and the access for 
No. 2-4 was considered to be too close to the junction to provide a safe access/egress. As the 
applicant has confirmed that staff will use public transport and the site is within a sustainable 
location with good public transport link, the lack of parking provision is not considered to have a 
detrimental impact upon highway safety.  
 
There is no drop off/pick up provision for the property and there are existing on-street parking 
controls protecting the crossroads junction. Therefore, if vehicles were to park outside the 
property on Central Road or Grange Road this would be contrary to traffic legislation and would 
be a matter for the police. This is the same for the adjoining residential properties which have no 
off street parking and the current situation for the existing residential properties that are the 
subject of this application.  
 
The highway authority are not objecting to the proposal on the grounds of insufficient parking or 
an impact on highway safety. The proposed change of use would not result in a material 
increase in traffic and is well served by public transport. Furthermore, if the visitors/occupiers of 
the property were to start parking on nearby streets, close to the junction, the streets are all 
protected by double yellow line and road traffic legislation would prevent this. As the proposal 
would change the use of the dwelling (Use Class C3) into a residential institution (Use Class 
C2) it is proposed to limit the use of that property to that described to prevent the applicant from 

36



OTHER MATTERS - SECTION B  

Planning Committee 4 May 2022  
Development Control Report 

being able to use their permitted development rights to change the property into any other 
permitted uses without firstly obtaining planning permission from the Council.  
 
No further consideration is required in relation to highway impacts and it is considered that the 
proposal is acceptable in relation to Policies IF4 and IF7 of the adopted Local Plan, Policy T2 of 
the Neighbourhood Plan, as well as the Leicestershire Highway Design Guide.  
 
Comments on Consultation Responses 
 
The Ward Councillor raised concerns over the lack of a construction management plan and that 
the previous application was resisted on highway safety grounds. The Parish Council objected 
to the original scheme on the grounds of highway safety, expressing concerns about the 
proximity to the junction, access and egress from the access, conflict with existing traffic and a 
parking shortfall. Local residents objected on the grounds of highway safety, congestion and 
parking.  
 
Following these comments revised plans were received which omitted the access from the 
scheme which addressed the access issues. Although the revised scheme would provide no 
parking, a case has been made that the occupants are unlikely to drive vehicles and staff 
vehicles would be of a limited number. Notwithstanding the parking shortfall, there would be a 
highway safety gain through the closure of the existing access which would outweigh any 
negative impact resulting from the parking shortfall. Furthermore, a construction management 
plan can be secured via a condition given the proximity to the junction and a further condition is 
suggested to control the use of the property in line with that proposed by the applicant.  
 
An objection was also raised on the grounds of over-development. However, the proposal would 
remove a significant footprint of unsightly additions to the property and the proposed footprint is 
deemed acceptable given the size of the plot.  
 
An objection was raised on the grounds of overlooking neighbouring gardens. However, as set 
out above, it is not considered the proposals would lead to an unacceptable level of overlooking 
or loss of privacy given the details of the proposals and the separation distances.  
 
Conclusion 
 
The principle of the development is acceptable. The proposal is not considered to have any 
significant detrimental design, residential amenity or highway impacts. There are no other 
relevant material planning considerations that indicate planning permission should not be 
granted. The proposal is deemed to comply with the relevant policies in the adopted Local Plan, 
the Hugglescote Neighbourhood Plan and the advice in the NPPF. It is therefore recommended 
that the application be permitted.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

37



OTHER MATTERS - SECTION B  

Planning Committee 4 May 2022  
Development Control Report 

RECOMMENDATION - PERMIT, subject to the following conditions: 
 
1 - time period 
2 - approved plans 
3 - materials 
4 - closure of access 
5 - cycle parking 
6 - bin store details 
7 - window details 
8 - landscaping 
9 - obscure glazing 
10 - boundary walls 
11 - construction management plan 
12 - swift boxes 
13 - removal of permitted development rights.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

38


	Agenda
	3. Minutes
	4. Planning Applications and Other Matters
	A1 22/00267/FUL: Erection of one dwelling and creation of a new vehicular access
	A2 21/00896/FUL: Part demolition of existing building, erection of a two storey extension and change of use to five assisted living flats alongside other external works and alterationsv

